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Detroit, Michigan

Tuesday, October 21, 2014

THE CLERK: All rise. The United States District
Court for the Fastern District of Michigan is now in session.
The Honorable Gershwin A. Drain presiding._

You may be seated.

The Court calls Case Number 13-cr-20772, the
United States of America versus Rasmieh Odeh.

Counsel, step forward,‘place your appearances on
the record.

MR. TUKEL: May it please the Court, Jonathan Tukel

on behalf of the United States.

MR. JEBSON:. Good morping; gbﬁ%:ﬂonor; Mark Jebson |.
on behalf of the United States.
o  THE COURT: AIl right. _

MR. DEUTSCH: Michael Deutséﬁ on behalf of the
defendant, Rasmieh 0Odeh.

MR. FENNERTY: James Fennerty on behalf of the
defendant, Rasmieh Odeh.

THE COURT: All riéht. Good morning,

MR. GOODMAN: Good morning. William Goodman.

THE INTERPRETER: I'm Rana Berry. I'm the
interpreter.

THE COURT: All right. Gentlemen, I guess, let

me first say that we need to swear the interpreter before we
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get‘started.

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand. Do you
solemnly swear that you will correctly translate the cath and
such questions as shall be put to this defendant from tﬁe
Arabic laﬂguage to the English language and her;answers from
the Arabic language to the English languageAto the hest of your
ability 50 help vou God? |

THE INTERPRETER: Yes.

(Rana Berry (Pallero), interpreter sworn, 11:06 a.m.)

THE CLERK: Thank you.

{(Motions held but not transcribed)
* * - +*

THE COURT: dkay. Let's do the evidentiary

"hearing.

MR. DEUTSCH: “Judge, I just want to sece if I
understand that, yoﬁr iaéérof the ground rules for this
evidence hearing. :

THE COURT: Okéy.

MR. DEUTSCH: I know it's a 104 type hearing, a
preliminary determination, and I've read your opinion. 2And I'm
wondering whether you want me.tb quaiify the expert, to get the
expert's background, her history, her work, or do you want me
to get right to the issue of, vyou know, her work with the
defendant in this case?

T just -- it seemed like you were saying she, you
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found she was an expert and PTSD was an area that someone could
have expertise on, but what vou were concderned about was the
link between her testimony, her expert opinion gnd the defense
in this case.

But, I mean, I'm happy tec put it on and just go
through it all or do whatever you want.

THE COQURT: Well, T think the government asked
for an evidentiary hearing challenging the ability to give an
opinion on this.

S0 what do you have to say about that, Mr. Tukel?

MR. TUKEL: Your Honor, feor purposes of this
hearing I don't think Mr. Deutsgh needs to do that. I would
Stipulate for pu;poses‘of thié hégxlng that the Witn?SS is an
expert.

Although, I would.llLéigé bé ahle to ask certain
questions about her background jﬁst because T think it might
become relevant to her opinion.

But, in terms of Qualifications, T don't think we
need to spend time with that.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: All right. So, I'll go along with
that. |

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: For purposes of this hearing, she's

qualified to give an opinion on PTSD.
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MR. DEUTSCH: ' T would call Dr. Mary Fabri to the
witness stand. |
| THE COURT: Okay.
All right, ma'am, come up to the front here and my
case imanager will give you an oath.
| THE CLERK: Raise your right hand. Do you solemnly
swear or affirm that the testimony now pending before this
court yill be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth' so help you God?
DR. FABRI: Yes, I do.
b R. MARY FABRTI,
called by the Defendant at 2:19 p.m., sworn by the clerk,
téstified>;s follpws: | . |
| THE CLERK: Please state your name for the
recorg.' |
v You can have a seat.
THE WITNESS: My name is Dr. Mary‘Fabri.
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY ME. DEUTSCH:

Q. éﬁd could you just tell us your occupation?

A. I'm a ciinical psychologist. |

Q. 1Apd when did you begin your work as a clinical
psychologist?

A. Well, I was licensed in 1988 and so that's when I could

call%myself a clinical psychologist.
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MR. DEUTSCH:

Just so the record is complete, I'm

going to just mark her CV and put it in evidence --

THE COURT:

MR. DEUTSCH:

All right.

-— as Defendant's 1.

(Whereupon Defendant's Proposed Exhibit 1 identified

for the record)

Q. (By Mr. Deutsch, continuing)

marked as Defendant's 1 for identification.

Court what that is?

Let me show you what's heen

Could you tell the

A, This is a short version of my CV.

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you.

0. (By Mr, Deutsch, continuing)

A, Yes.

trauma and torture.

Now is there an area-of work

.that you specialist in as a clinical psychologist? =~

I've specilalized in working with survivors of war

Q. And how long have you been doing that work?

A. More than 25 years.

Q. And does your CV reflect the
area? |

A, I believe so.

0. And does it also reflect the

area?
A, Yes. There's a publications
Q. Now, in the course of —-- did

work that vou've done in that

writings you've done in that

list.

you have occasion to

interview and evaluate the defendant, Ms. Odeh, in this case?
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A, Yeé. Mr. Fennerty referred her to the Ko%ler Center.
0. And what is the Kovler Center?

A. The Marjorie Kovler Center is a treatment center for
survivors of torture.

Q. And how long has that center existed?

A, The Kovler Center started in 1987. It was the third
center in the U.S.

0. And how long have vou been affiliated with the Kovier
Center?

A, Since the beginning. I was one of the first six clinical
psychologists that volunteereq to begiﬁ to do the work.

0. And could you tell us briefly howhmany hours and times

you've, you interviewed Ms. Odeh?

A, Yes., I met with Ms. Odeh six times for approximately
three hours each time, and it was over a period of four months .
Q. And in addition to yourself and Ms. Odeh was anvone else

present during these interviews?

2. Yes. Five of the six sessions there was an interpreter
present.
Q. And can you tell us what the process of your sessions and

evaluation was with Ms. Odeh?

Al Sure. In the first session we meet to become Ffamiliar
with each other. I asked Ms. 0Odeh what she'd like me to know
about herself, and we ended up doing a timeline of her life and

the experiences she had.
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The second session an interpreter wasn't
available. We still met, because her English is passable, and
we continued to talk about those life experiences and about
what a structured assessment would entail, and at the end it
was up to her to decide whether she wanted to enter that
procéss.

. She made that decision to enter and so the next
four sessions involved a structured assessment process using
the clinical, c¢linician's administered PTSD survey.

Q. What does that consist of?
A. It included a structured interview asking about past

experiences, traumatic experiences. It involves giving a life

events checklist. It involves going through possible symptoms

and asking about her experiences and what it's related to.

S50 all'the sympitom thaﬁ are part of PTSD and does
she have them, when they're active; when they're not active,
are they severe, are they not severe, and just going through it
and asking her also to relate them to different 1ife
experiences.

It, you know, it's a very detailed -- in a
addition to that I gave her the Harvard Trauﬁa Questionnaire
and also the Hopkins Symptom Checklist.

The Harvard Trauma Questionnaire has been used
cross-cultures in many different countries. It asks very

specifically about trauma events and alsc torture events and
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there's a scale that helps yoﬁ assess PTSD.

The Hopkins Symptom Checklist is related to
depression and anxiety symplLtonms.
Q. Now, what was the nature of the trauma that Ms. 0Odeh
discussed with you?
A. Well, over her lifetime there were multiple traumatic
events, but the focus really was around her arrest and period
of detention and questioning.

And during that 45-day period that she was
detained at one site, she described muitiple ongoing

experiences of'tbrture. That would included beatings,'

‘humiliation, deprivation, sexual viclence, electric shock

1 . I

treatment, and also witnessing others being tortured.

0. ©Now, based on your interviews and testing, do you have an

opinion whether Ms. Odeh was truthfully ielating her
experiences, past traumalic experiences? | N
A, Yes, I do.

And part of the reason is the process fhat we go
through as, it, it -- we meet cver time because we want to look
for consistency in report and so we're looking for credibility:
Are the same things being told at different meetings; is it
consistent, also, symptomatolgy, is it consistent with those
experiences. We ask the same questions in different ways just
to elicit different, see if the responses stay the same.

S0 I found her to be very credible.
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Q. Any evidence of malingering or exaggerating?
A. No, not in my opinion. ‘
Q. Based on vour interviews and testing, do you have an

opinion as to whether or not Ms. Odeh suffers from post
traumatic stress disorder?
A. Yes. That was my final -+ diagnosis was chronic PTSD.
?TSD isn't a condition where there's a cure. It
can be acute and pecople recover, but many survivors of severe
trauma develop what we call chrenic PTSD where there's a
vulnerability for it to reoccur at different times when there
is étress or reminders of the past trauma.

0. And could you explain how, if at all, PTSD effects the

cognitive memory functioning of the brain?

A, Sure.

Okaﬁ.‘-So, when there's a trauma happening} it can
be overwhelmingrand the cognitive part of our brain caﬁ become
overwhelmed. So if we 1ook.at different brain centers, and
I1'1l keep this simple, there is the emotional center, which is
the hippocampus. There -- I mean, I'm sorry, the amygdala,
which is mediated by work of the hippocampus and the pre medial
frontal cortex. They mediate information.

So all of us process emcotional information through
the amygdala and if the hippocampus and the pre medial, the ?re
frontal medial cortex are functioning well, they'll sensor for

us so we don't say or do things that are emotionally reacted.
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During the traumatic event or, like torture, war
trauma, many other things that are intense stress, those
mediating parts of the brain become overwhelmed, and sc¢ in an
experience of torture the memory is eanded in an emotional
way,‘in a very sensory way 1in the amygdala so that when there
are reminders of that paét trauma and the‘memory is recalled,
it's recalled in a very emotional intense way without that
cognitive processing.

Q. Now, when you evaluated Ms. Odeh, was she exhibiting

symptoms of PTSD?

AL Yes.

You know, whether fortunately or unfortunately, -

-

during the period I saw her this indictment was very activating

for her as well as it was during the Israeli, the most recent
Israeli/Gaza conflict.

So she was very activated and was having

-difficulty sleeping, had symptom of anxietYﬁ When we met, she

often would break down in tears énd we would have to take a
break because she was under a lot of distress.

She also disassociated at one point where she sort
of -- what that_means is —-- disassociation is like a shutting
down of processing current information. And it just meant
that she was taking a break from sharing the information, but
then would recoveﬁ and wé would decide whether we should

continue or wait until the next time to continue.
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Q. S50 when somebody i1s suffering acute symptoms of PTSD, are
they more or less likely to cognitively block or filter the

past trauma?

“ A, Well, during an acute phase of PTSD the filters, vyou know,

everybody tries to cope. We all try to find ways of coping
with our. stresses, whéther they're extreme or miid.

For survivors of severe trauma they work really
hard to develop filters that help keep the reminders out sé
that during acute phases where someone is symptomatic, those
filters aren't working very well, and, again, that cognitive
processing part is dimiﬁished.

During periods where someone is not stressed or
:distressed, thpse filters work pretty well, agd'so'the filter;}
what they help do is narrow the focus of someone's
consciousness or éwareness; | B

So, during relatively good functioning, someone
would have effective filters working.

Q. Now, the cognitive filtering‘process, does it involve a
lack of conscious self-reflection or a lack ¢f self-awareness?
A. No. It's, actually over time it becomes automatic. In

the beginning when trauma survivors are fLrying to learn coping
strategy, if they're in therapy, they will get suggestions from
their therapist, bhut even if you don't go into therapy, and
obviously, not everyone goes into therapy, you develop your own

coping strategies and those coping strategies help you narrow
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your focus and keep those bad meﬁories at bay.
And so, you know, that's what happens.
Did T answer your gquestion?
Q. Yes. I just want to follow up.
So someone suffering ffom PTSD dé théy know at

some level they are, are they conscious of filtering their

memory?
AL No, because it's automatic.
0. Now, someone who has the condition of PTSD, do they know

What they're doing but they can;t control their conduct?

A.V "Do they know what they're doing but they can't control
their conduct?"

Q. In other words, .is there an ifresisﬁible impulse?

| Théy know ‘that they're blocking‘their meméry} bt
they can't help it?

A. No, it's aﬁfﬁmatic. It's not this intentional,:i}m not
going to do thét. It's an automatic. They've taught

themselves to narrow their focus to keep the painful memories

back.
0. So, it's not a conscious rejection of the memory?
A No.

Q. And it's not something that they know that they have the
memory but they can't control it?
A, No.

Q. Now, did Ms. Odeh tell you why she answered "no" to the
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questions about her arrest, conviction, and imprisonment on her
citizenship application?
A. Yes. What she told me was that when she read the
questién, she thought it meant during her time living in the
U.s.
0. -Now} in your opinion would a person with chronie PTSD
typically interpret a question in a way in ﬁhich your- brain
would cognitiwvely filter recalling past trauma?
A, There's a strong peossibility that that would be a
prrotective way that narrowed focus would have them look at the
question in a narrow way so that it would be interpreted,
during ﬁy life in the US, not to include, my life back home - -
where these tgrrible thiﬁgs hqppened to me.
Q. S0, the fact that Ms. Odeh inﬁerpreted the questions on
her citizenship appiiéation'to excludé her traumatic past;rié
that consistent with someone suffering from PTSD? -
A, Yes, it could be.

MR. DEUTSCH: I have no further questions.

THE COURT: ‘Okay.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. TUKEL:
Q. Ma'am, my name is Jonathan quel. I'm going to ask you

some questions if I could.

AL Sure.

0. You sald you met with the defendant a total of six times?
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Al Correct.

Q. Could you Ltell us the datesrduring which you met, just the
time frame?

A. Apfil through July.

Q. Of this vear?

A, Yes.
Q. For your meetings, what materials were prepared?
What sorts of things did yéu put together to work
with? |
You talked about a timeline?
A, Yes. In our first session one of the techniques to help

put people at ease is not to jump right into what bad things

o

happened to you, but to talk abeut your whole life, you know,

it's like a narrative.

Q. So what written materials were put together in order for

vou to do this diagnosis?'

A, Written materials? 1'm sorry.
0. Well, the timeline was written, wasn't it?
A, Yeah. 1It's in my personal notes.

Q. Okay. What other types of notes did vou make?

A, It's —- well, it was my personal notes during our first
meeting énd then I followed the CAPS, the clinical administered
PTSD scale. |

Q. Did you ultimately write any reports or any memoranda?

A. Yes. There's, there's a psychological affidavit that I
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believe is submitted.

Q. The one that was filed with the court?

A. Yes. .Uh—huh.

0. Other than that, did you w;ite any other diagnostic notes
or anything?

A, Just the forms that are a part of the CAPS and then my
éersonal notes from the first session.

Q. But when you say personal notes, can you explain does that
go iﬁto a file for each patient; what gets done with those?

A, It's handwritten.

0. And then are they -- I mean, is that a business record

that you make for each pétient or was there ~-— it's not like
something personal. You‘re_doing it as part'of your clinica}
practice, correct?

A;ﬂ ﬁight.

But, it was handwritten, and it wasn't part -- so,
then - there's the intake forms and the information that. are in
my personal notes are recorded in the intake forms.

0. And then what happens with your personal notes after?
A. I keep them in a file that, it's personal, separate
because most of the information has been reccorded into the
intake forms, which I also believe is submitted.

Q. So those personal notes are available if we wanted to
review those?

A. I believe =50,
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Q. Whégéfis that file now, I meah, do you'have that?
A. Do 'I have it? It's -- well, it's —- well, I have -— I
have the report with me but the peréonal files are at the
Kovlerfgégéer.
Q. W@atjgid‘you review prior fo your testimony today?
A, Uﬁm,féhe CAPS and the psychological evaluation.
Q. And those are in the same file, then, I take it?
A. Ye‘é.,
0. Back ia_'t your office?
A. Uh-huh, yeah, that T believe has been submitted.
0. Tbg'mentioned the intake notes?
A, _Uh—h@h.
0. Howwé#é those éreated; who works on those?

K Is that'something fhe patieﬂtwfills out _—
A, Ng; |
Q. —: pfibr-to meeting with you? !
A. No. No. No'. No. No. The way the Kovler Center works,

first there's a screening interview to, by a case manager to
establish éhe probability that someone's a torture survivor and
then théyfye referred for an intake.
0. Wﬁgnfgou say "case manager", can you tell me what that
personﬁsqb;ckground is? |
A, Aggééﬁelor's level.

i And there's four -- it's either four or five

questions. they ask and then the person who does the intake is a
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licensed clinician.
So I'm the licensed c¢linical psychologist and T

did the intake and then provided the assessment for Ms. 0Odeh.

Q. Okavy.

MR. TUKEL: Can you show us Page l-df the defense
exhibit.
Q. {(By Mr. Tukel, continuing) I'm sorry. We had the screen

arranged not to be convenient for a witness today, but ydu can
either --
MR. TUKEL: May she step down if she needs to see

that, your Honor?

THE COURT: Sure. -
Q. (By Mr..Tukel, continuing) TIf you can't see that --

A. That's the release of information.

MR. TUEKEL: ééﬁ.you golto the next page, please.
Q. (By Mr. Tukel, contiguing) Is this what we're talking
aboul for intake notes?
A. No.
Q. Wﬁat is thisf

THE WITNESS: May I7?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE WITNESS: Oh, ckay. OQOkay.

Recently the Kovler Center went for electronic
records. These are questions that were asked and then get

summarized in a form.




2:13-cr-20772-GAD-DRG Doc # 113 Filed 10/23/14 Pg 21 of 57 PgID 1175

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

21

MR. TUKEL: And then could we see Page 7.
THE WITNESS: Right. Those are my notes.
Q. {By Mr. Tukel, continuing) So who's writing is this on --
A. Mine.
Q. S0 this is something vou filled out?
A. With Ms. Odeh and the interpreter.
Q. Okay. So, you would ask questions and then this is

reflecting the information she gave you?

A, Right,
Q. Ts her writing on any of this or is it all your writing?
A. No, it's mine. We were having a conversation.

Q. Okay. Thank you.
| What did you review, if anfthing,'other than
information that Ms. Odeh gave you? |

. Did you review any materials as part of your work

in this case?

A. What do you mean; what kind of material?

0. Well, I don't know, anything aboﬁf her background,
anything about the case, any of the discovery that was given to|
her attorneys?

A. No. Because I'm an objective evaluator, and T don't, you
know, I want to meet with the client and find ocut from her in
her own words.

Q. I ﬁasn't criticizing. I was Jjust =--

A. No, I'm just explaining to you how the process goes.
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Q. Sé, other than notes -- you reviewed the notes with her, I
take 1t, then, after you wrote them down?
A, fes. Yes. To ﬁake sure they're accurate. Absolutely.
Q. S50 you reviewed those.
Did you review anything elée with her that was
written? |
A, The report. I went through it with her.
Q. That was the report that you authored, correct?
A. Right.
0. The affidavit?

A. Yes. The affidavit.

Q. Anything else?

A. YOU'kHOW,'jUSt, you know, we filled out_thé forms
together, the CAPs; clinician -- you know, it asks for iﬁput
from“tﬁé client. So we.did this ﬁogether %iéglthe interpretef.
Q. All right. Other than these forms, didtyou review
anything else about her background. or anything about her
history, any other materials?
A, Not that I recall.
Q. Okay.

| Can you tell us hcow many times you've testified as

an expert?

A. Well, in immigration court multiple times.
Q. You said "multiple”™ is that more than ten?
A. Yes.
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Q. More than 207

A, Yes.

Q. More than 507

A. That, vou know, over a long period of time --

Q. But definitely more than 207

A, Yes.
Q. In all parts of the country, or in --
A. No. In Chicago.

. Okay. And is that to testify about PTSD specifically or
about other --

A, It defends. In immigration court I've doné assessments
and been present and available for being questioned by the

attorneys. Sometimes you're sequestered and never actually

. give testimony, but I've alsc been an expert witness about PTSD

and memory.
0. That's in immigfation court?
Al Yes. |

Then Ilwas also an, I evaluéted and was an expert
witness in the State of Illinois versus sundus Balwa, which was
an Iragi woman, and I evaluated her separately from the program
where she was receiving services.
Q. And what was the evaluation to determine?
A. About her state during a period of time where she left a
disabled child alone.

Q. Was that to determine if she was competent to stand trial
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1 or for —-

2 A, It was an insane defense.

3 Q. I see. Okay.

4 Other than that, the immigraticn cases and that

5 case, have you testified on other occasions?

6 | A. There —-- I don't -- the one time I was questioned in DC,

7 Washington, DC, and T can't remember what the coffice was, but
8 it was related to a case I worked on.

9 Q. Was it a court or was it --
10 A. No, it was an office. It was Sister Dianna QOrtiz.
11 Q. I'm not familiar that, can you tell me what that --
12 A, Okay. ©She's a torture,- Sister Dianna Crtiz is an American

13 Nun tortured in Guatemala. -

14 | Q. All right.

15 When Ms. Odeh came to you, you knew she had been

S

16 indicted in this case, correct?

i A, Yes.

18 Q. You had not seen her prior to that time cliniéally?

19 A.- Oh, no.

20 0. Had you known her, had you ever met her prior to that?

21 A, No.

22 Q. As part of your diagnosis of her, did you ask her about

23 any previous treatment or diagnoses that she had had?
24 A. It was in -- part of the intake is to get a medical

25 history. Yes.
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Q. Then had she ever had any --
Al No.
Q. —-— psychological evaluation?
A. Not that she reported to me, no.
Q. And you have no reason to doubt that, correct?
A No.
Q. One of the things that you recommended for her after your

diagnosis was that she follow a course of treatment, correct?
A. Uh-huh. Uh-huh,.

Q. Is that a yes?

A. Yes. I'm sorry. Yes, it is.

0. They have to be transcribgd, S50, ..

A, Ye‘;?, .

Q. ‘What is the recommended céurse of tréaﬁment?

A. ~Well, because she was very acutely symptomatic, T thought
it would be helpful it she saw the psychiafrist. She declined.
Sherdoesn't want to take medications is wh§£ she told me.

And I told her that it was available, net with me,
but with, through the Kovler Center she could see a therapist

if she wanted to,

0. So, she saw you six times for the diagnosis for this case,
correct?

A, Yes.

Q. And as far és yoﬁ knew, she has not pursued any further
treatment?
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A. Correct.
Q. Is that contrary to yvour recommendation or is it in
accordance with your recommendation?
A. Well, it was my recommendation to her and often people
don't follow through. I mean, thaf'slnot, that's not unique
to her. People often don't understand therapy.
0. Your recommendation is to continue with therapy, in other
words?

Al That it wouldn't be continued, because it wouldn’t be with
me; that coﬁnselling would be available to h%r, therapy would
be available to her, that it might be a source of support
during this.

7 But, actually,rwhat Ms. 0Odeh tpld‘mé is that hgf
community supported her and she really didn't feel the need,
althoﬁgh, I, you khow, és a psychologist,,l'feel like £here ié

benefit.

0. Okay.

And for whatever reason she's not following that
advice? |
A, Well, it was a recommendation.
Q. Recommendation.

Is there a difference between recommendation and
advice?

A. Yeah. I think there is.

Q. What's the distinction?
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A. A recommendation is an coption that -- vyou know, either way
she's free to make a decision on her own. I'm not going to..
Q. Can you tell me a little bit more about this insanity

defense case that you testified about?

What was the charge and what was the defense?

A, Okay. So, it was an insanity defense. IL was an Iraqi
woman who had also a very horrible experience, multiple
occurrences of exposure and also her own experience of being
tortured in Irag. A lot of 1t during Saddam Hussein.

She was resettled in the U.S. as a refugee. She
had a disabled child. She also was in therapy with someone
else at a different program and was getting services, but the
lawyers contacted the Koﬁlgr.Center to see if we would do an
objective evéiuatioa. |

I saw her. I can't tell you héw many -- it was

extended. I saw her many times over a pericd of time and

collected her history, and she was also a very vulnerable woman

to these periods of disassociation and also flashbacks, which

are neuropsychological events that happen where someone relives

the trauma and are not in the here and now.
0. What was she charged with?

A. Criminal neglect.

0. Of the child?

A, Yes,

Q. And what was then -- what was your conclusion?
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A.

What was your diagnosis?

That she was suffering from severe PTSD that included

symptoms of disassociation and flashbacks and:that at the time

she left this child alone that she did nct have good judgment

at all. That she had very poor judgment.
Q. What was this person's name, the defendant?
A. Sundus Balwa.
THE COURT REPORTER: How do you spell that?
THE WITNESS: What?
Q. (By Mr. Tukel, continuing) Could you spell the last name?
A. Oh, sure. Sundus is S-U-N-D-U-S, and Baiwa is B-A-L-W-A.
Q. What court was that tried in?
A. Tt was in Chicago in-2004:
Q. What was the verdict in that caée?
A, Shelwas found not guiitf‘df criminal negléct.
Q. Mr. Deutsch asked you sbme questions about malingering.

Can you tell us what that is, what that means?.

A.

Malingering is when someone is falsely saying that they're

suffering from a conditibn.

Q.

And so that's something that you try to screen for,

correct?

A,

Exactly,
Essentially trying to control for that?
Exactly.

What's the reason that you're trying to control for that?
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A, Well, one of the reasons is we want to have honest
evaluations aﬁd also provide our services to people whd really
need them. |

30 we want to make sure that someone is a torture
SUrvivor.
Q. All right. So sometimes peocple will fabricate or
exaggerate?

A, That's a possibility.

Q. That's what'you'ré‘trying to figure out anvhow?
A. Right.
Q. You were involved in a resolution to have Chicago declared

a torture free éone, corract?

A. Yes. B

Q. And‘part of that ‘talks about that on some pgopie there are
physical scars or marks —- |

A. Yesf

Q. —-— that demonstrate they've been tortured?

A, Uh~-huh.

Q. TIs that something that you screen for when you meet a
patient?
A. You know, it depends. In immigration cases we often do

refer individuals for medical exams where physicians will
examine the body and look for the physical evidence, scars that
are consistent with the report of the acts that were committed

against them.
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But psychological torture is also a huge problem
in that setting of being tortured.
Q. But they're not necessarily distinct, right, people can be
physically tortured and psychologically tortured?
A, Absolutely. And some people are only -- T mean, usually
physically and psychologic —- if you'fe physically tortured,
you're psychologically tortured and sometimes people are just
paychologically tortured.
Q. 50, do you physically examine patients to see if they have

signs of the physical part?
A. A medical doctor does.
Q. And what was the result of that —-
A. We didfnof refer her because the,torpure expériéncé was
many years ago and oftenrscars fade. |

.,So usually we're éeeiﬁg survivors wﬁo have more
acute scars, you know, they're more recent and soﬂthat they're
visible. |
Q0. So, you didn't think it was even worth looking?
A. You know, beatings done, what, 196%, it's 2014, beatings(
electric shock doesn't necessarily leave scars.
Q. You keep saying "necessarily”. I'm asking yoﬁ didn't look
to see if there was --
Al No, we did not refer —-— we did not.
Q. So, your diagnosis ultimately was that Ms. Odeh is

suffering from chronic PTS8D, correct?
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A. Correct.
Q. And chronic means it doesn't get better, right?
A. No. Chronic means it's persistent so that it's recurrent.
It's —- it's —- it's a chronic condition with reoccurrences.
Q. And based on your diagnosis, when did that first manifest
itself?
Al In talking with Ms. Odeh, when she was -- after the

torture and she was moved to the longer term prison detention
center, she was symptomatic. |

But with time the symptoms ~~ and also it sounds
like from her description the women also crganized and so Lhat
also helped her.

I think as a community itfs not unusual to hear
people detainéd ih prison for é long time develop commuhity and
that community provides a support network.

Q. Just so I understand correctly, are you‘saying rather than
itself being a stress-inducing facfor, prison can be actually

be therapeutic for that type of thing?

A, No. I would not use the word therapeutic at all. What

I'm saying is detainees often commune -~ they form a supportive
network among themselves. I've heard this from many different
-— especially women, and men alsc. With long term detention
they turn to each other for connection. They're sharing this
experience. |

0. All fight. But, one of the things you're measuring is
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Just PTSD can have many different causes, correct?
A. Tt's a traumatic event. It must be a traumatic event
experienced as life threatening.
Q. All right. But there's many different possible suph
evénts, right?
A, Sure. I mean, 1it's war, torture, it can a traumatic
accident. It could be -—-
Q. It could be a life endangering fire. You're in a building

and you have trouble getting out?
AL Yes.
Q. - Okay. So, I mean, there's many different causes.

Prison is that type of stressing event, isn't it?

7

AL It could be, but not for everYbody. It depends on what

your experience is in the prison.

Q. There are some people that don't find prison to be a
stressing event?

A. No, not everybody, not every person who's in prison will

develop PTSD.

Q. I wasn't asking that. I was asking Just is some --
A. Prison can -- prison is a stress. It's a stressful event.
Q. And what your tests really are measuring are the effects

of that stress, right?
You're then interpreting them to come up with what
you believe to be the cause, but what you are actually

measuring are the affects, correct?
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A. Right. What the symptoms'are and the severity of the
symptoms.
Q. And, again, those symptoms can be, have multiple different
causes, they can be the fire?
A. Right.
Q. They can be the life threaltening accident?
A. Right. |
0. So how do you deal with the situation where there are
multiple factors like that that cause the stress?

A. Uh-huh. You know, it's, i1f you look at someone's timeline
in the CAPS, thej ask you to state what is the most distressing
event, and one, the event that she selected was during that
25-day period.~H‘That was like her most distressing e;ent.

‘So that was the event tha£:we started ﬁifhl
Q. Okay.

Your form, your intake form does not-asklabout
imprisonment.as one of the causes, right, it lists other basecs
for persecution?

A. Yes. Because the most distressing event was during that
25-day period.

MR. TUKEL: Could we see Page 7 please, question
19.

0. {By Mr. Tukel, continuing) This is a form that you use
for all your patients, right?

A. Right.
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Q. So, it says reason for persecution. It lists:

Religious views.

Political views or beliefs.

Political party actual or suspected belief.

Banned political pa?ty.

Ethnic minority.

Linguistic minority.

Racial minority.

Or other, correct?
A. Uh~huh.
0. So, prison is not even one of the options for people to
check?
A. .No, but they'coﬁld state it.
Q. Okay. But it's not somefhing you're listing as one of
the things that-géﬁ;re looking-for, correct? | -
A, It's not tha% we're not looking for it, it's just these
are the primary. reasons for persecution. The question‘israbout

the reason for persecutiocn, not the reason that you have

symptomns.

Q.

That answer of "Israeli occupation of land control" that's

what the defendant told to you?

A,

Q.

That's her words, vyes.
And you're writing her words?
Yes.

Okay. Thank you.
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All right. Could you tell us based on the
diagnosis that you made, do the symptoms of this PTSD change

over time?

A. Have -- have -- I'm not sure I understand what you're
asking.
Q. Well, vyou saild that there can be occasions where the

effects become more severe and the person shows more —-

A, Acute.
0. More acute.
A. And then -- it's recurrent, so they're not always

experienced at the same level.

Q. All right. And what can make those become more or less
-acute?.

A. Well, I think in Ms. Odeh's case she stated this process

had activated her symptoms and then-as you saw in this, as we
got inteo July, the situation between Gaza and Israel.

Q. Did she list cver things‘that-héd occurred over the past
10 or so years, let say 35 years,-start with 1979, that had
made it, the éymptoms become more acute at times?

A. I would have to look. I'm sorry.

0. Where would you have to look?

A, I'd have to look at my notes,.

Q. Do you have those with you?

A, In my backpack.

MR. TUKEL: May she, vyour Honor?
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THE COURT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: These are the electronic medical
records that I'm looking at.

Okay. Would you ask me the --

Q. (By Mr. Tukel, continuing) Yeah,

I was asking you 1f she had related to you
particular times or events which caused the symptoms to become
more acute?

A. Let me see if it's ~~ I'm remembering now she -- let's see
if I can find it.

T would feel better if T could do this without
sitting here.

Q. Wel%, let me ask it_this way. DO'you think that sﬁe
related that“there were other such evénts? |
A; Yes; I'm trying -—- yes, I do. o

0. Okay.

S A, But, you know, I'd need to look at ‘this very carefully and

I'm feeling —-

Q. Well, let me ask you this.

A, Okay.
Q. Do you know when she filled out her naturalization
application?

A. The exact date, no, I don't.
Q. Do you know the approximate time?

A, I've bheen told, I don't remember, I'm sorry. I just
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don't.

Q. Well, what I really need to aék you —— I'11 tell you that
it was in 2004,

A, Okay.

Q. And what I really need to ask you is were there events
related to you that were taking place in 2004 which made those
sympltoms morelacute? |

Al No.

Q. No, there was not?

A, Not that she shared with me.

Q. What -- what would it be that would trigger the acute

symptoms?
A, Well, conditions back home. I think the death of her

brother was a possibility. That's what I was looking for.

0. And can you explain to me why the death of a brother would

be something thatlwoﬁld trigger 1it?
A. Loss.

0. So it's just aﬁy sort of —--

;9 Deep loss.

Q. Deep loss?

A, Sure.

I mean, it's a possibility. It does for some
people but not for others. It weuld, you know, we're all
different. It's —-- can't predict for each of us.

Q. And then you use the term "filters"™. Can tell us what it
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is that the filters do?
A, It's like a lens. I think we, you know, we all develop
ways of narrowing our focus so that we can keep painful things
at bay.

And so, I like the term "filters" because it's
like a lens that filters out, help keeps things out.
0. And so is it your testimony that at a conscious level,
then, that a person that is filtering doesn't remember the
past?
A. No. It's not thét they don't remember the past, it's that
there’'s this automatic behavior. The automatic, it's an
automatic behavior. A:narrowing of the focus so that it's not
this coéscious thought process that, I don‘t want to think
about this. it's just automatiéally kept out, unless there's

a stressor in front of you that weakens that defense.

¢. And does the person know what those stressors are?

A. For the most part, yeah, they recognize it and they avoid
it.

Q. Okay. 8o, in Ms. Odeh's case what are the stressors?

A. What are her stressors?

Q. Yes.

A. You know, things about back home. . Talking about what
happened to her is stressful.
Q. S0 does that mean that she would then use those filters to

avoid talking about what happened?
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A. It would assist her in not thinking about it.
Q. Explain that?
A. Okay. ©So, cbviously, she can talk about what happened and
if you ask her guestions, she can respond to it. But in daily
life there can be reminders like uniforms. So you avoid placés
where theré are uniforms.

Andque of the things I was looking for is Ms.
Odeh had related a story of where she was pulled over by a
police officer and the fact that this uniformed man was

approaching her car made her very anxious and that night she

“had activated symptoms.

Q. And so if she could, if I understand your testimony
correcﬁiy, those filters would have her try fé avoid situations
where she sees people'with uniforms oh;‘is that correct?

A.  Right.

Q..'Aﬁa, so, then would she also try to éﬁoid situations Where
people would ask about her past? o

A, That depends. There'é a context there;

Sometimes survivors, I've worked with many
survivors who have felt an obligation to speak about what
happened to them at certain times when they believe thét there
will be an impact that will help those who didn't survive or
whe don't have thaf opportunity to speak out.

But on a day-to-day basis people don't volunteer,

I'm a torture survivor.
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And, actually, there was a very interesting study
done in West LA by David Eisenman in a medical clinic that
served predominately Latinos and Latinos and, vycu know, one of
things that came out of it 1s a large number of the patient
population had tréumatic history. Some of them even, because
they were from Central America, were torture victims or were
family members of torture victims and they said they never told
anyorne because no one éver asked, their physician, their
provider never asked, so they didn't volunteer it.

So, you know, there's this context of when do you

share; how do you share?

Q. Well, in your affidavit one of the things you said on page

18 is'ﬁhét it is the iQtenticn of the ;urvivor.fo keepi
reminders at a distance? |
Al feé.
Q. ~Is that, that is correct?
A. . Right.
Q. Okay.
And then you say:
"Avoldance and sometimes even denial of thoughls,
feelings, and activities associated with the trauma is
a symptom and is also an attempt to cope with the
overwhelming memories of the trauma."” |
A, Yes. You know, there's no Page 18, sc 1 don't know what.

page you're looking at. I'm sorry. Maybe it's Page 18 in
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yours.

Q. Page 18 as filed.
A, Oh, I don't have a filed version.
Q. Oh, it's Page 16 on yéurs?
A That's okay. Ckay. BS5So which paragraph are vyou --
Q; Five?
A. Page 16 has 67 through 73.
Are you on a different one? TI'm sorxry.
Q. Page 16, "referral questidn and résponse".
A Okay. That's not —--
Q., That's not it?
A,

"PTSD affect". Yeah, it is. T don't know why yours is

numbered differently, but it is.

o

A,

A,

0.

Ckay. So, looking at yours it would be Numbéruai?
Right.
Okay.
"Avoidance, éné sometimes even denial of thoughts,
feelings, and activities associated with the trauma is
a symptom and is also an attempt tQ caope with the
overwhelming memories of the trauma."
Correct?
Correct. Uh-huh.

And it is the intention of the survivor to keep reminders

at a distance?

AL

Yes.
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MR. TUKEL: Could we see Exhibit 1, page 8,
rplease.
Q. (By Mr. Tukel, continuing) So, this is the naturalization
application. Have you ever seen this before?
Al Hers?
Q. Anyones'?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. You've seen hers?
A, No.
Q. 50, you have seen this form before, correct?
Al Yes.

Q. Form N-400.
Have you ever tead Lthe ingtructions on this
section? |
A.‘ No:
Q. Okay. So, let's read”it together:

"For the purposes of this application, vou must
answer "Yes" to the following questions, if applicable,
even if your records were sealed or otherwise cleared
or 1f anyone including a judge, law enforcement
officer, or attorney, told you that you no longer have
a record." |

Question 15:

"Have-you-EVER -— and 'ever' is 1in capital letters

and in bold -- committed a crime or offense for which
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you were not arrested?"
'"Ahswer: 'No'."

Question 16:

"Have yoﬁ EVER —-- capital letters and in bold --
been arrested, cited, or detained by any law
enforcement officer... for any reason?"

Can you explain to me how the PTSD would cause
someone to read the word "ever" to mean in the United States?
A, Okay. So, as a trauma survivor, a torture survivor, you
work very hard to cope, right, to deﬁelop strategies in your
daily life so that you can live it without having to remember
and those strategies help you develop the filter that I

mentioned so that you don't, you narrow your focus. Okay.

. You narrow your focus so that you're not remembering the past.

"80 you read this as a survivor and if it was a

‘period of relative calm, so 2004 was a pericd in your life

where you are functioning well, you're, you know, in Ms. Odeh's
case, I believe, she was employed and working aﬁd feeling
successful in her life here in the U.S. |

50 she would look at this with her filters, her
defenses, but I like the word filters better, working. That
she would look at this and it was narrowed focus of time frame,
she could potentially, T mean, I don't know what went on in her

mind, right, but in my understanding of PTSD and survivors and

how they develop strategies to cope in daily life that she
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would look at "ever in the U.S.". It's & narrowed focus of
time frame.

Q. Did she tell you that éhe had received a law degree before
she moved to the United States?

A. I 5elieve so. Uh-huh.

0. Oka&. And so did you consider that background in terms of
her analysis.of legal documents?

A, No. I mean, I was Seeing her at an assessment as a
torture survivor.

Q. Okay. Mr., Deultsch asked you some questions, and T just
want to make sure I understand the answers.

Do-you say she can or cannot control this

. filtering conduct?

A. Okay. It's not a matter of control. It's a matter of
deveiopmenf;:aﬁa so0 she has déﬁeloped, as many Sﬁggi;érs do,
this'capacigy to narrow your focus. Tt's not, it‘é not this
conscious process of I'm going to use this now or I'm not going
to use it now.

Either it's effective and it's working and the
focus 1s narrowed, or you're activated, you're aroused, you're
having many symptoms and your filters are off.

Q. And can she exert any control over when the filters are on
or when the filters are off?

A. It's automatic.

0. So the answer 1is, "ne", she cannot?-
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A. It not, it doesn't work that way. It involﬁes the brain
and how, what structures in the brain are working, which are,
which are activafed and which are diminished and so when the
cognitive narrowing of the focus is effective, then that's
what's working. If it's the emcotional part that's activated,

then that's what's working.

Q. S50, I'm sorry. Can she control that or can't she?

A. Okay. No, 1t's not something that you control. It's
like flipping a switch on and off. It's an automatic.

Q. So, would you characterize that as an impulse?

A No.

Q. Why not? And explain what the difference is.

A. Because it's not impulsivity. It has to do with the

‘emotional center and how the memory, the memory is being

remembered. Is it in an emotional way or is it in this narrow
focused way.

Q. And at the conscious level tﬁe person doesn’'t know that
this is going on?

A. No. It's automatic.

You know, one of the examples very simply would be
have you ever, if you drive to and from work, have you ever
driven home and thought, how did I get there? 'Cause you're
preoccupied, you're thinking about other things, but you're on
automatic pilot because it's familiar. Your brain gol vyou

home. It knew when to stop at a stop sign. You didn't
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conscilously stop at the stop sign, but you stopped.

Q. And if someone asked you did you drive home, you would
say, "yes"?

A. Yes. Because you arrived home in your car.

C. So it doesn't keep you from understanding at.that level

that that's what you've done?

A. After the fact. But during it --

Q. If someone asked you, "are you driving"; you would say,
"no"?

A, That would bring you out of your -- that question doesn't

work like that. Because if vyou are driving home, you're doing

it in this automatic way, even though your thoughts are

~elsewhere. It's just.an example for you to try and understand

how some things we do are automatic. It's not like you chose
not to think about what yoﬁ were-dﬁigg, but vyou had fhe
capacity to be able to do it. )

Q. In terms of trying to avoid the stressocors, can you tell me
what sorts of avoidance behaviors you believe the defendant
uses?

A, Again, she talked about them. So, like, I kncew at work
she talked about sometimes being at work but being more
socially isolative in the office. So that's a way. You don't
want to talk about what's going on, so you stay -- go Lo work,
you function well, but you sort of stay off by yourself. That

would be an avoidant behavior.
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Q. Ckay.

You already talked about avoiding talking aboﬁt
the past would also be one of those behaviors as well?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Did Ms. Odeh ever tell you that she/had appeared in

a video --

Al Yeah.

Q. -— in which -- she did tell you that?
A Yes. Yes.

Q. But you never_reviewéd that?

A. The wvideo?

Q. Yeah.

Al I watched 1it.

Q. I asked you‘ét'the beginning what other materials ydu had

reviewed?
A. I'm sorry. 1I'm sorry.

Q. So, Ltell us about the videco?
A, Well, I watched the video and, vyou know, saw @er and other
women being interviewed.

I don't know if we're talking about the same

video.
0. Do you know the name of the video you saw?

I'm asking if you know, not if Mr. Deutsch knows?
A. I know. I'm sorry. I don't remember.

Q. Women in Struggle?
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A, I believe so, you know --
MR. TUKEL: Can you show Clip Two?
Q. (By Mr. Tukel,lcontinuing) Let me show you this and see
if this refreshes your memory.
(Playing video)
A. Yes, that's the one.

Q. That's the video?

A, Yes.
Q. Okay. .
She told you that she had appeared in this video?
A. Yes.
Q. Did she tell you when this video was made?

A. .;'m sure she”did. I don't remember the date, théugh;
0. Relative to her applicatioﬁ for naturalization, did she
tell you when'shé-appeared in this ﬁideo? N
A, You know, I aon't remember,
Q. Did you review the video to see if you saw evidence of
symptomsg of PTSD manifesting themselves from the stress of
talking about her experiences?
A. Oh, ne, and I wouldn't expect tc see that. It would be
after that she would have them.

So survivors like Ms. Odeh will, I have the total
capacity the talk about what happened to them. She
demonstrated it in her session with me; she demonstrated it in

the video, and there are probably other times when she's spoken
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about it.

But it's afterwards that people suffer.

You know, one of our assessment questions that I
use is a 24-hour clock, that you want to walk someone through a
typical 24 hours, because survivers will get up every morning,
they'll go to work, they'll function. But if someth?ng
reminds them of their, their trauma or if at night is moxe
vulnerable when you don't have all the activities distracting
you, that's when they can't fall asleep at night, have
nightmares, are anxious. S50 —--
Q. Did she tell you that she had those experiences as a

result of appearing in this wvideo?

By

- A, 'I.didn't ask her afterwards. I didn't ask her. I was

focusing on doing the stru&£ured assessment.
" THE COURT: All right. Mr. Tukel, how much

loﬁger are you going to be? .

MR. TUKEL: Five minutes, your Hénor..

THE COURT: Okay. A1l right. Because I was
going to say we need to take a break.

MR. TUKEL: We can take it now if that's convenient
or I can finish, whatever youfd like.

THE COURT: Let's see, Mr. Deutsch, do you have
anything else?

MR. DEUTSCH: No, I'm not going to have anything,

judge.
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THE COURT: Okay, well, let's go ahead.

I'm going to hold you to that five minutes, Mr.

Tukel.

MR. TUKEL:. I'm going to turn on my watch, your
Honor . |

THE CQURT: Okay.
Q. {By Mr. Tukel, continuing) I'm sorry. You said you didn't

ask her. You watched the video but you didn't ask her what her

reaction was afterwards, after having appeared in that?

A, No.
Q. Okay.

bid she -- did you watch the-entire.video?
_A,;'I skipped'arounq through it. ; meén;.I watched éll of

hers, but some of the cther women I fast forwarded through.

Q. Okay. So did you listen to the portion where Avyisha 0Odeh

was talking about when she had placed the bombs?

AV You know, I watched the video, that-part, yes. But it

was awhile ago.
Q. OCkay. Did you watch the part where Ayisha Odeh said:

"I placed the bombs, but others were more
involved. Rasmieh 0deh scouted the locaticen and chose
the targets and went with someone else to look at it
before 1 simply placed the bombs."

| Did you watch that?

A. I recall that.
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0. VDid vou discuss that with the defendaﬁt?

A, No. No, I wasn't evaluating that. My -- what T was
asked to do was evaluate her mental status and how she was
psvchologically functioning, and that's what I do. I wasn't
evaluating her éctivity.

Q. Well, but doesn't her willingness to speak about the
event, isn't that part of the background of what you‘fe
evaluating?

A, I'm foellowing a structured interview. TL's Lhe way we
assess PTSD., I took the history from her. I lock through the
consistencies of what she's reporting and symptoms she's
having.

I'm a clinician. .80 I'm looking to make a

diagnosis.

Q. Isn't one of the things-she told you that the torture was
particulérly severe because she had no information to give?
A. She did say that they wanted her to -+ she didn't know

what they wanted, is what she told me.

Q. She told you she had no informatiocn to give, correct?
A, Correct.
Q. But the video would seem to indicate that she did have

information to give?
MR. DEUTSCH: Objection. The video, he's referring
to somebody else saying something, not --

MR. TUKEL: Well, there's statements by the
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defendant. I'm simply asking --

THE COURT: Overruled.

Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: What is your question?
0. (By Mr. Tukel, continuing) My question is, she had told
vou that the torture was particularly severe because she had no

information to give, correct?

Yes?
A, Yes.
Q. And did you use the video to evaluate whether that was
truthful?
A, No.

Q. Wasn't.one of the things you talked about at the beginning

. you're trying to determine if the person is being truthful with

you?
A. Right.
But, typically, I wouldn't use a video. I saw
this after.
0. You saw this after vyou made vour diagnosis?

A. Well, after I had finished meeting with her.

0. How did see this; what was the circumstances?

A The attornevs suggested I lock at it.

Q. And you had already made your conclusion?
A I had already done my --

Q. Your diagnosis?
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A. Yeah. And I still think she has PTSD regardless of what
came 6ut in the video. But I don't know, you know, I don't
know because I wasn’'t there.

MR. TUKEL: Thank you.

THE COURT:  Okay.

All right, Mr.-Deutsch, yvou don't have anything?

MR. DEUTSCH: I don't have anvthing further.

THE COURT: All right, ma'am, you may step down.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

THE COURT: You may be excused.

(At 3:23 p.m. witness excﬁsed)

THE COURT: All right. There's been a lot done
today, a lot éf mctions argued and I'm going to take all th
this'ﬁﬁder adyisement'and issue an dpinioh pgetty soon. |

\ Let me~just ask you, Mr. Deutsch, one other thing.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: ‘The government has filed a motion for

reconsideration with regard to the specific infent issue and
I'm kind of looking at that and T want to iﬁvite you to respond
to that. Can you have something to me by Thursday-or Friday at|
the latest?

MR. DEUTSCH: If you so order, I will.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, lei's make it Thursday,
then.

MR. DEUTSCH: Judge, let me just say one other
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thing.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: I don't know i1if you —- I filed.what I
entitled an pffer of procf yesterday, which was to try and, for
you to understand what the testimony of the defendant would be
so that you would see the connection between the expert and her
testimony. And I thought that was one of the things you were
concerned about.

And, also, I know you and your clerk will find
that there is quite a bit of law in the Sixth Circuit about
relevance and how you're supposed to maximum the relevance of
the proponent of the evidence.

- "We mu;t look at the eyidence in the light most
favorable to igs propenent, maximizing its probative
ﬁalue.and minimiziné its prejuaicial effect." |

THE COURT: Are you reading from a case?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah. T'm reading from United States

versus Clark, which is 377 Federal Appx 451. It's a Sixth

Circuit 2010 case.

And there's similar language in United States

versus Smithers, which is 212 Fed 3rd 306, Sixth Circuit 2000

case.
It's just kind of a black letter law when vyou have
a proponent you try to maximize the connection and the

relevance and minimizing the prejudice.
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So Just in terms of evaluating whether or not the
testimony of the expert is relevant to the defense.

But I will file something by Thursday.

THE COQURT: Okay.

MR. TUKEL: Your Honor, the Court had indicated

this morning, or asked Mr. Jebson a guestion about

retroactivity pertaining to the statute. May we submit an

answer to that in writing or a citation of authority? I don't
know what mechanism the Court would like.

THE CQURT: Qkay. Yeah, if you've gol it, it
shouldn't take much. So, you can do that by tomorrow, could
you?

MR. JERSQON: Yes, your Honor.

THE éOURT:’ Okay. Why don't you get it iﬁ‘by
tomorrow.

MR. TUKREL: Just procedurally, should we file that
in the docket? |

I don't know what we should call that. I don't
know if there's something on ECF that has that. I just wanted
to know how to proceed properly.

And; I guess, we don't need an answer now. We can
talk to your case manager.

THE CQURT: Yes, just file something. Serve Mr,.
Deutsch with it. Yeah, file it on CM/ECF, ﬁoo.

MR. TUKEL: Thank you.
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THE COURT: Anything else, gentlemen?
' MR, DEUTSCH: Yeah, I'm wondering if you've
reached any conclusion about the guestionnaire issue. 1 know
it's going —- it would delay things, and, obviously, we wanbt to

know if we're really set for trial on November 4th or if it's
going Lo --

THE COURT: I'm stiil thinking about that.
Still thinking about that.

MR. DEUTSCH: Good.

THE COQURT: I'll leave it at that.

"MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: _Then,‘we'll be in recess.

THE CLERK: All riée. iCOﬁrt is in recess.

(At 3:27 p.m. proceedings concluded)
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